2010

Mary Ann Jenkins and Gary D. Jenkins v.
ADVANTAGE PAWN RENTAL, dba
ADVANTAGE RENTAL and/or ADVANTAGE
RENTAL & TRADING POST, and BIG BUBBA'S
TRAILER MFG., dba BIG BUBBA'S TRAILER
SALES and/or BIG BUBBA'S TRAILER SALES &
MFG., : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The Utah Supreme Court transferred this case to the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102(4) and Rule 42(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(j) and Rule 5(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the district court err in denying Big Bubba's Motion to Set Aside Default Certificate based solely on the length of time that had elapsed between service of the Amended Complaint and the filing of Big Bubba's Motion to Set Aside? (R. 52, 72, 133, 197.)

2. Did the district court err in denying Big Bubba's Motion to Set Aside Default Certificate without making findings of fact regarding the relevant factors to be considered in determining whether "good cause" exists under Rule 55(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure? (R. 133, 197.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A trial court's ruling on a motion to set aside a default certificate involves the trial court's discretionary power and will be overturned only if it has abused its discretion. See Davis v. Goldsworthy, 2008 UT App 145, ¶ 10, 184 P.3d 626.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case.

Plaintiff Mary Ann Jenkins, along with her husband, Gary D. Jenkins, filed this lawsuit seeking damages for personal injuries allegedly sustained in an accident involving one of Big Bubba's trailers. Plaintiff alleges that after removing a locking pin securing one of the trailer's two ramps in an upright position, the ramp fell and struck her on the head. There are no known witnesses to the accident and Plaintiff has given conflicting accounts to her medical providers as to how she was injured. Plaintiff has filed this lawsuit against Big Bubba's claiming that the trailer it manufactured was unreasonably dangerous. Plaintiff has also named as a defendant in the case the equipment rental company from which her husband rented the trailer, Advantage Rental, claiming that the trailer it rented was unreasonably dangerous.

In July of 2009, Big Bubba's was served with a summons and a copy of Plaintiff's Amended Complaint. At that time, Big Bubba's was in the process of moving its business to another location. Through the mistake and inadvertence of one of its employees, the summons and Amended Complaint were misplaced and forgotten. Unbeknownst to Big Bubba's, on October 27, 2009, a certificate of default was entered, signifying that Big Bubba's had failed to timely file an answer to Plaintiff's Amended Complaint.

During the week of April 19, 2010, a representative of Advantage Rental contacted Big Bubba's and informed it that a default had been entered against it. Big Bubba's immediately notified its insurance agent and, by the end of that same week, counsel had been retained for Big Bubba's who filed both an answer to the Amended Complaint and a motion to set aside the default certificate.

B. Course of Proceedings.

On April 1, 2009, Plaintiff filed this lawsuit against Big Bubba's and Advantage Rental. (R. 1.) The next day, on April 2, 2009, Plaintiff filed an Amended Complaint. (R. 7.) On July 10, 2009, Big Bubba's was served with a summons and copy of the Amended Complaint. (R. 16.) On October 27, 2009, a Default Certificate was entered against Big Bubba's. (R. 32.) On April 23, 2010, counsel for Big Bubba's served Notice of Entry of Appearance, Answer to Amended Complaint, and Motion to Set Aside Default Certificate with supporting memorandum. (R. 37, 39, 50, 52, respectively.)

After briefing on the motion was completed, the trial court heard oral argument on August 19, 2010. (R. 106.) Following oral argument, the trial court denied Big Bubba's Motion to Set Aside Default Certificate. (R. 133.)

C. Disposition of the Court.

On September 9, 2010, the trial court entered an order denying Big Bubba's Motion to Set Aside Default Certificate. (R. 133.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Facts Asserted In Support Of Motion To Set Aside Default Certificate.

1. On July 10, 2009, Big Bubba's was served with a summons and a copy of the Amended Complaint. (R. 16.)

2. Days before, on July 1, 2009, Big Bubba's moved its business location from 123 W. 12th St. to 1751 W. 12th St., in Ogden, Utah. (R. 3, ¶ 3.)

3. Through the mistake and inadvertence of one of Big Bubba's employees, the summons and Amended Complaint were misplaced and forgotten. (R. 3, ¶ 4.)

4. During the week of April 19, 2010, a representative of Advantage Rental contacted Big Bubba's and informed it that a default had been entered against it. (R. 3, ¶ 5.)

5. By the end of that same week, counsel for Big Bubba's had entered an appearance, filed an answer, and moved to have the certificate of default set aside. (R. 37, 39, 50, 52, respectively.)

B. The Trial Court's Ruling On Big Bubba's Motion To Set Aside Default Certificate.

6. On August 19, 2010, the trial court heard oral argument on Big Bubba's Motion to Set Aside Default Certificate. (R. 106, 197.)

7. In their briefing to the trial court, the parties' arguments focused on a dispute over the proper rule to be applied by the court in considering the motion; Big Bubba's argued that Rule 55(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure applied, while Plaintiff argued that Rule 60(b) applied. (R. 63-64, 73-74.)

8. During the hearing, the trial court agreed that Rule 55(c) was the applicable rule and acknowledged that the default certificate could be set aside for "good cause." (R. 197, pp. 5-7.)

9. To determine whether there was "good cause," the trial court reviewed the factors set forth in Rule 60(b). (R. 197, pp. 6-7.)

10. While acknowledging that the three (3) month time limit imposed under Rule 60(b) did not apply, the trial court held that too much time had elapsed between service of the Amended Complaint and the filing of Defendant's Motion to Set Aside to constitute "good cause" under Rule 55(c). (R. 197, pp. 24-25.)

11. On September 9, 2010, the trial court entered an Order denying Big Bubba's Motion to Set Aside Default Certificate. (R. 133.)

C. Additional Relevant Facts.

12. While Plaintiff alleges in her Amended Complaint that she was injured by a ramp from a Big Bubba's trailer that had fallen, striking her on the head, an Emergency Room report from McKay-Dee Hospital from the day of the alleged accident indicates that Plaintiff was seen for injuries secondary to a fall.

HISTORY OF PRESENT ILLNESS: The patient is a 49-year-old female who has had some chronic back pain. She stood up, had back pain and then felt weak, fell forward, hit the right side of head. She now presents because she has had an increased amount of headache, confusion, and neck pain. Nothing seems to make it better or worse.

(See McKay-Dee Hosp. Ctr., Emergency Dep't Report, April 2, 2007, attached as Ex. 10 to Pet. for Interlocutory Appeal.)

13. While Plaintiff alleges in her Amended Complaint that the trailer built by Big Bubba's was improperly manufactured/designed, Plaintiff's safety expert, F. David Pierce, has expressed no opinions that would support such allegations. (R. 179-80.)

14. Around the same time as the hearing on Big Bubba's Motion to Set Aside Default Certificate, Plaintiff approached the defendants asking whether they would stipulate to amending the Scheduling Order so as to allow additional time for discovery. (R. 137.) The parties agreed and the trial court amended the Scheduling Order accordingly. (Id.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Under Rule 55 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, a trial court may set aside an entry of default for "good cause." Utah R. Civ. P. 55(c). Rule 55 provides no test or formula for determining what constitutes "good cause." However, courts applying the federal counterpart of Rule 55 generally hold that

determining “good cause” is a multifaceted and case-specific inquiry. Factors often considered by courts include whether the default was willful, whether the defendant has alleged a meritorious defense, and whether any prejudice will result to the nondefaulting party if relief is granted.

In this case, the trial court denied Big Bubba’s Motion to Set Aside Default Certificate based solely on the amount of time that had passed since the service of the Amended Complaint, finding that a nine (9) month delay was too lengthy to constitute “good cause” under Rule 55(c). Under the circumstances of this case, the trial court’s application of a rigid time-based test constitutes an abuse of discretion and should be reversed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT DENIED BIG BUBBA’S MOTION BASED SOLELY ON THE AMOUNT OF TIME THAT HAD PASSED SINCE THE FILING OF THE AMENDED COMPLAINT.

While a trial court has broad discretion in deciding whether to set aside a default, that discretion is not unlimited. See Lund v. Brown, 2000 UT 75, ¶ 9, 11 P.3d 277. “As a threshold matter, a court’s ruling must be ‘based on adequate findings of fact’ and ‘on the law.’” Id. (quoting May v. Thompson, 677 P.2d 1109, 1110 (Utah 1984) (per curiam)). “The setting aside of a default under Rule 55(c) lies within the sound discretion of the trial court, applying a standard of liberality and resolving all doubts in favor of the defaulting party.” Miller v. Brocksmith,

825 P.2d 690, 693 (Utah Ct. App. 1992) (internal citations and quotations omitted). “A decision premised on flawed legal conclusions, for instance, constitutes an abuse of discretion.” Lund, 2000 UT 75, ¶ 9, 11 P.3d 277; see also, Davis, 2008 UT App 145, ¶ 11, 184 P.3d 626.

Utah courts have long disfavored the entry of default against litigants because they are contrary to the purpose and intent of a system of adversarial litigation. See Heathman v. Fabian & Clendenin, 377 P.2d 189, 190 (Utah 1962); see also, McKean v. Mtn. View Mem. Estates, Inc., 411 P.2d 129, 130 (Utah 1966). It is the policy of the law to favor the resolution of disputed issues on substantial rather than technical grounds. See McKean, 411 P.2d at 130; see also Bunting Tractor Co. v. Emmett D. Ford Contractors, Inc., 272 P.2d 191, 192 (Utah 1954).

Rule 55(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, like its federal counterpart, governs the setting aside of a default prior to the entry of judgment, and states that “for good cause shown the court may set aside an entry of default.” Miller, 825 P.2d at 693 (citing Fed. R. Civ. P. 55(c); Utah R. Civ. P. 55(c)). Since the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure were fashioned after the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, the Utah Supreme Court has encouraged the examination of cases decided under the federal rules in determining the meanings of the Utah rules. See Winegar v. Slim Olson, Inc., 252 P.2d 205, 207 (Utah 1953); see also Wilson v.

Lambert, 613 P.2d 765, 767, n.2 (Utah 1980) (recognizing the applicability of federal interpretations of rules that are nearly identical to state rules). With respect to Rule 55(c) specifically, the Utah Court of Appeals has stated, “[s]ince Rule 55(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and Rule 55(c) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure are substantively identical, ‘we freely refer to authorities which have interpreted the federal rule.’” Miller, 825 P.2d at 693 (quoting Gold Standard, Inc. v. Am. Barrick Res. Corp., 805 P.2d 164, 168 (Utah 1990)).

The “good cause” standard of Rule 55(c) has been described as being a mutable one, varying from situation to situation. See Coon v. Grenier, 867 F.2d 73, 76 (1st Cir. 1989). “It derives its shape both contextually and in comparison with the more rigorous standard applicable to attempts to vacate judgments under Fed. R. Civ. P. 60(b); the ‘good cause’ threshold for Rule 55(c) relief is lower, ergo more easily overcome, than that which obtains under Rule 60(b).” Id.; see also, United States v. One Parcel of Real Prop., 763 F.2d 181, 183 (5th Cir. 1985) (explaining that although a motion to set aside a default under Rule 55(c) is somewhat analogous to a motion to set aside a judgment under Rule 60(b), the standard for setting aside a default decree is less rigorous than setting aside a judgment for excusable neglect); Dennis Garberg & Assocs., Inc. v. Pack-Tech Int’l Corp., 115 F.3d 767, 775 n.6 (10th Cir. 1997) (“[I]t is well established that the good cause required by Fed.R.Civ.P. 55(c) for setting aside entry of default poses a

lesser standard for the defaulting party than the excusable neglect which must be shown for relief from judgment under Fed.R.Civ.P. 60(b).”) While it may be appropriate to consider the factors described in Rule 60(b) in determining whether “good cause” exists for setting aside a default certificate, see Miller, 825 P.2d at 693, the standards are not the same.

Rule 55(c) does not define “good cause.” Nevertheless, courts applying Rule 55 have relied on multiple factors in determining whether “good cause” has been shown. Citing to federal appellate case law, this Court recently explained:

Factors relevant to whether good cause has been shown could include [1] whether the default was willful, [2] whether the defendant alleges a meritorious defense, [3] whether the defendant acted expeditiously to correct the default, [4] whether setting the default aside would prejudice the plaintiff, and [5] the extent, if any, to which the public interest is implicated.

Roth v. Joseph, 2010 UT App 332, ¶16, ___ P.3d ___ (citing Beitel v. OCA, Inc. (In re OCA, Inc.), 551 F.3d 359, 369 (5th Cir. 2008)) (brackets added).¹ These factors are similar to the ones that have been applied by numerous other courts. See

¹ The Roth decision was released on November 26, 2010, some three months after the trial court denied Big Bubba’s Motion. In its Petition for Permission to Appeal Interlocutory Order, Big Bubba’s focused its discussion on the three factors it perceived to be the most commonly applied by the federal courts in determining “good cause.” See Heber v. United States, 145 F.R.D. 576 (D. Utah 1992); see also, Hunt v. Ford Motor Co., 65 F.3d 178, *3 (10th Cir. 1995). Those three factors (willfulness, meritorious defenses, and prejudice) were presented to the trial court for consideration during the hearing on Big Bubba’s Motion. (R. 197, p. 7.) Roth added two additional factors (expeditious corrective action and public interest). An analysis of all five factors is set forth below.

Marziliano v. Heckler, 728 F.2d 151, 156 (2d Cir. 1984); Meehan v. Snow, 652 F.2d 274, 277 (2d Cir. 1981); Keegel v. Key West & Caribbean Trading Co., 627 F.2d 372, 373 (D.C. Cir. 1980); Jackson v. Beech, 636 F.2d 831, 835 (D.C. Cir. 1980); United Coin Meter Co., Inc. v. Seaboard Coastline R.R., 705 F.2d 839, 845 (6th Cir. 1983); Gold Kist, Inc. v. Laurinburg Oil Co., Inc., 756 F.2d 14, 19 (3d Cir. 1985); Coon, 867 F.2d at 76; CJC Holdings, Inc. v. Wright & Lato, Inc., 979 F.2d 60, 64 (5th Cir. 1992); Pretzel & Stouffer, Chartered v. Imperial Adjusters, Inc., 28 F.3d 42, 46-47 (7th Cir. 1994); Falk v. Allen, 739 F.2d 461, 463 (9th Cir. 1984) (per curiam); TCI Group Life Ins. Plan v. Knoebber, 244 F.3d 691, 696 (9th Cir. 2001); In re: CRS Steam, Inc., 233 B.R. 901 (B.A.P. 1st Cir. 1999); Heber v. United States, 145 F.R.D. 576 (D. Utah 1992).

With respect to the denial of a motion to set aside default under Rule 55(c), the United States Court of Appeals for the First Circuit has stated, “notwithstanding the deference due to this - as other - discretionary decisions, . . . a reviewing tribunal should not stay its hand if the district court errs by reading ‘good cause’ too grudgingly.” See Coon, 867 F.2d at 76 (citing One Parcel of Real Prop., 763 F.2d at 183) (internal citations omitted). “Nor does ‘an abuse of discretion need [to] be glaring to justify reversal’” Id. (quoting Keegel, 627 F.2d at 373-74) (alterations in original).

Applying the above factors to this case, it is apparent that the trial court abused its discretion in denying Big Bubba's Motion.

1. Big Bubba's Failure To Timely Answer The Amended Complaint Was Not Willful.

Willfulness in the context of a default refers to conduct that is more than merely negligent or careless. See SEC v. McNulty, 137 F.3d 732, 738 (2d Cir. 1998). In this regard, courts will often ask whether the defendant's conduct is culpable. See TCI Group Life Ins., 244 F.3d at 697. "The usual articulation of the governing standard, oft repeated in our cases, is that 'a defendant's conduct is culpable if he had received actual or constructive notice of the filing of the action and *intentionally* failed to answer.'" Id. (emphasis in original; internal citations omitted). "Willful and bad faith conduct is conduct characterized by incessant and flagrant disrespect for court rules, deliberate and knowing disregard for judicial authority, or intentional non-responsiveness." Kirtland v. Fort Morgan Auth. Sewer Serv., Inc., 524 So.2d 600, 608 (Ala. 1988). "Such conduct justifies a finding of culpability and thus militates against an exercise of discretion in favor of the defaulting party." Id. "However, a defaulting party's reasonable explanation for inaction and non-compliance may preclude a finding of culpability." Id.

In this case, Big Bubba's did not willfully fail to answer the Amended Complaint. As previously set forth, Big Bubba's was served with the summons and a copy of the Amended Complaint at the same time it was moving the location

of its business. Through the mistake and inadvertence of one of its employees, the summons and Amended Complaint were misplaced and forgotten. It was not until Big Bubba's was notified by a representative of Advantage Rental that it realized its mistake. Once the mistake was realized, Big Bubba's took immediate action by answering the Amended Complaint and moving to have the default set aside.

Plaintiff never challenged, and the trial court never questioned, Big Bubba's explanation for the default. The trial court made no findings of fact that would support or even suggest that Big Bubba's default was anything other than an honest mistake. In fact, the trial court accepted Big Bubba's explanation and specifically incorporated the same as a finding of fact in its Order. (R. 133.) Under the circumstances, Big Bubba's default cannot be considered willful.

2. Big Bubba's Has Alleged Meritorious Defenses.

A meritorious defense means a defense worthy of presentation, not one which is necessarily assured success. See Herrera v. Springer Corp., 508 P.2d 1303, 1314 (N.M. Ct. App. 1973), aff'd in relevant part, rev'd in part, 510 P.2d 1072 (N.M. 1973). "The 'meritorious defense' component of the test for setting aside a default does not go so far as to require that the movant demonstrate a likelihood of success on the merits." Coon, 867 F.2d at 77 (quoting Keegel, 627 F.2d at 374). "Rather, a party's averments need only plausibly suggest the existence of facts which, if proven at trial, would constitute a cognizable defense."

Id.; see also, Kryzak v. Dresser Indus., 118 F.R.D. 12, 14 (D. Me. 1987) (recognizing both compliance with industry standards and comparative negligence as meritorious defenses).

In this case, Big Bubba's alleged meritorious defenses in its Answer. Among others, Big Bubba's alleged that Plaintiff's injuries were not proximately caused by any act or omission by Big Bubba's; that Plaintiff's own negligence or fault was the proximate cause of her injuries and damages; that Plaintiff's own negligence or fault exceeds the fault of the defendants; and, that the trailer was built in accordance with industry standards and is presumed to not be defective under Utah law. (R. 43-48.) In fact, while Plaintiff alleges in her Amended Complaint that the trailer built by Big Bubba's was improperly manufactured/designed, Plaintiff's own safety expert, F. David Pierce, has expressed no opinions that would support such allegations. (R. 179-80.)

In this case, it is critical that Big Bubba's be allowed to defend itself on the merits, especially because Plaintiff has given conflicting and contradictory accounts of how she was injured. In her Amended Complaint, Plaintiff alleged:

On or about April 2, 2007, Plaintiff, MARY ANN JENKINS attempted to lower the ramp by pulling the locking pin, wherein the ramp immediately fell and struck her on the head, knocking her unconscious onto the ground.

(R. 8, ¶ 9.) However, an Emergency Room report from McKay-Dee Hospital from that day indicates Plaintiff was seen for injuries secondary to a fall. The report states:

HISTORY OF PRESENT ILLNESS: The patient is a 49-year-old female who has had some chronic back pain. She stood up, had back pain and then felt weak, fell forward, hit the right side of head. She now presents because she has had an increased amount of headache, confusion, and neck pain. Nothing seems to make it better or worse.

(McKay-Dee Hosp. Ctr., Emergency Dep't Report, April 2, 2007, attached as Ex. 10 to Pet. for Interlocutory Appeal.)

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