2010

Mary Ann Jenkins and Gary D. Jenkins, husband
and wife v. ADVANTAGE PAWN RENTAL, dba
ADVANTAGE RENTAL and/or ADVANTAGE
RENTAL & TRADING POST, and BIG BUBBA'S
TRAILER SALES and/or BIG BUBBA'S
TRAILER SALES & MFG. and JOHN DOES I-IV,
: Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

While Rule 55(c) does not set forth a specific test as to what constitutes good cause for setting aside a default certificate, Utah courts have provided a standard to follow. This standard focuses on the issue of excusable neglect, including whether the moving party has control over the circumstances that led to the default certificate being entered. See *Miller v. Brocksmith*, 825 P.2d 690 (Utah App. 1992); *Davis v. Goldsworthy*, 184 P.3d 626 (Utah App. 2008). While Rule 55(c) deals with certificates of default and Rule 60(b) deals with default judgments, Utah courts have held that the factors described in Rule 60(b) are relevant to the good cause determination under Rule 55(c). *Id.* One of these factors is whether defendant can show excusable neglect, which means that the party had no control over the circumstances leading to the entry of the default certificate. *Miller* at 693. If excusable neglect is not shown, then the court does not need to go further and consider any additional

factors. *Miller* at 694.

In this case, after considering written memoranda and oral arguments of both parties, the trial court determined that Defendant's failure to respond to Plaintiff's complaint did not constitute good cause under Rule 55(c). The trial court followed controlling Utah law; therefore, it did not abuse its discretion.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SET ASIDE CERTIFICATE OF DEFAULT

A. Trial courts are granted considerable discretion when deciding to grant or deny motions to vacate defaults, and Defendant cannot show an abuse of this discretion.

When reviewing decisions made by trial courts, appellate courts should "not disturb the trial court's decision in such matters absent a clear abuse of such discretion". *Fackrell v. Fackrell*, 740 P.2d 1318, 1320. (Utah 1987). Rule 55 provides procedures regarding defaults, and states that "for good cause shown, the court *may* set aside an entry of default". Utah R. Civ. P. 55(c) (emphasis added). "It is, of course, well-established that 'good cause' determinations entail discretionary conclusions by the district court and will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion". *Hendry v. Schneider*, 116 F.3d 446, 449 (10th Cir. 1997). The *Hendry* court further held that "[t]he trial court abuses its discretion in determining whether there is 'good cause' if its decision is arbitrary, capricious, or whimsical". *Id.* In the instant case, the trial court's decision was based on the undisputed facts after both parties had briefed and orally argued the issue. Thus, the decision was not arbitrary, capricious or

whimsical and should be affirmed.

The Utah Court of Appeals has also addressed the issue of setting aside an entry of default certificate, specifically discussing Utah R. Civ. P. 55(c), holding that the trial court has discretion in setting aside a default, and that all doubts should be resolved “in favor of the defaulting party”. *Miller v Brocksmith*, 825 P.2d 690 (Utah App. 1992). However, resolving doubts in favor of the defaulting party does not mean that the court must always set aside a default certificate. “[B]efore we will interfere with the trial court’s exercise of discretion, abuse of that discretion must be clearly shown”. *Katz v Pierce*, 732 P.2d 92, 93 (Utah 1986). The *Katz* court further held that simply because Defendant can provide a reason that the default should be set aside “does not require the conclusion that the court abused its discretion in refusing to do so, when facts and circumstances support the refusal”. *Id.*

In this case, the trial court did not simply consider one factor in its decision. It issued its order after considering both written and oral arguments, and found that under the facts and circumstances of this case, Defendant “failed to show sufficient grounds to establish good cause or excusable neglect” and therefore denied Defendant’s motion. (See Order on Defendant’s, Big Bubba’s Trailer Mfg, Motion to Set Aside Default Certificate, R. 133.) In doing so, the trial court did not abuse its discretion and its decision should not be disturbed.

B. Utah Courts have interpreted Rule 55(c) so there is no need to apply law from outside of this jurisdiction.

Defendant asserts that the trial court applied an erroneous standard when ruling on the

motion to set aside the certificate of default. In support of this assertion, Defendant goes to great lengths to cite cases from circuit courts outside of the 10th Circuit regarding the interpretation of Utah R. Civ. P. 55(c).

However, Utah courts have clearly discussed “good cause” in the context of Rule 55(c), and have applied it to various cases. As held in *May v. Thompson*, 677 P.2d 1109 (Utah 1984), an order must be “based on adequate findings of fact” and “on the law”. In this case, the trial court issued clear findings of fact and an order that specifically cites to and follows controlling Utah law and therefore, it did not abuse its discretion.

There is no specific test to apply in order to determine what is good cause for vacating a default certificate. Utah courts have held that Rule 60(b) is relevant to this question. In *Miller v. Brocksmith*, 825 P.2d 690 (Utah App. 1992), the appellate court upheld the trial court’s denial of a motion to set aside a certificate of default under Utah R. Civ. P. 55(c). That court held that Rule 60(b) was relevant, and thus some of the “factors to be considered include whether [defendant]’s failure constitutes excusable neglect and whether [defendant] has presented a meritorious defense to the action”. *Miller* at 693. The *Miller* court further stated that, having determined that no excusable neglect existed, it was not necessary to go further and examine whether a meritorious defense existed. *Miller* at 694.

In applying *Miller* to the case at bar, the trial court held that no excusable neglect existed. The trial court determined Defendant was properly served at its business address and ignored the complaint for a period of nine months, which was simply too long to be excused.

Based upon this finding, the trial court followed *Miller* and, having determined that no excusable neglect existed, determined that it was not necessary to go further and examine whether a meritorious defense existed.

In their oral arguments before the trial court, the parties also discussed *Davis v Goldsworthy*, 184 P.3d 626 (Utah App. 2008). That court also used the Rule 60(b) factors in making its decision regarding a default, holding that in order to demonstrate excusable neglect, “the movant must show that he has used due diligence and that he was prevented from appearing *by circumstances over which he had no control*”. *Goldsworthy* at 630. (citing *Black’s Title, Inc.*, 1999 UT App 330) (emphasis added). There are no such circumstances in this case such as intervening action of a third party, natural disaster place of business destroyed by circumstances beyond its control, etc. Defendant was completely in control of its own circumstances, and its pattern of inaction should not be excused.

Certainly, moving a business is difficult with things being misplaced and disorder occurring for a period of time, causing a deadline to be missed for a short amount of time. However, there is no dispute that Defendant was served at its new business address, that its manager properly accepted service, that it had nine months to correct its error and only did so after being notified by a co-defendant.

Moreover, Defendant is a business establishment that has a responsibility to act in a business like manner. When it fails to act in a business like manner, as in this case, Plaintiffs should not carry the burden of this failure. The trial court’s decision was supported by

findings of fact and by case law. and the default resulted from events entirely within the control of the Defendant. Consequently, the Defendant has not provided any justification for this Court to find that the trial court abused its discretion.

II. EVEN IF FEDERAL LAW IS APPLIED TO THIS CASE, DEFENDANT HAS NOT SHOWN GOOD CAUSE WHY THE DEFAULT SHOULD BE SET ASIDE

Defendant cites heavily to various federal cases, mostly from jurisdictions outside the 10th Circuit, but also to one 10th Circuit case that was decided after the time that Defendant filed this interlocutory appeal. Plaintiff submits that Utah law exists that addresses the exact facts and circumstances that are addressed by the case at bar, and are therefore controlling. However, in the event that this Court is inclined to follow the cases cited by Defendant, Plaintiff will address those issues here.

A. Rule 55(c) does not contain a specific test for determining “good cause”, therefore this Court is not required to consider any or all of the factors cited by Defendant.

In all of the cases cited by Defendant, the courts have considered the same general factors in determining whether good cause exists for setting aside a default. These factors are: (1) whether the default was willful; (2) whether a meritorious defense exists; and (3) whether the nondefaulting party will be prejudiced. *Marziliano v Heckler*, 728 F.2d 151, 156 (2d Cir. 1984).

It is interesting to note that many courts, including a number of those cited in

Defendant's brief, have applied the same factors to the setting aside of default certificates under Rule 55(c) as they do to setting aside default judgments under Rule 60(b). See *United Coin Meter Co., Inc. v. Seaboard Coastline R.R.*, 705 F.2d 839 (6th Cir. 1983); *Gold Kist, Inc. v. Laurinburg Oil Co., Inc.*, 756 F.2d 14 (3d Cir. 1985); *CJC Holdings, Inc. v. Wright & Lato, Inc.*, 979 F.2d 60 (5th Cir. 1992); *Pretzel & Stouffer, Chartered v. Imperial Adjusters, Inc.*, 28 F.3d 42 (7th Cir. 1994). Even considering that the standard for "good cause" under Rule 55(c) is lower than that of Rule 60(b), these three factors do not support Defendant's contention that the trial court abused its discretion when it refused to set aside the default.

In addition to these three factors, Defendant cites to the recent case of *Roth v. Joseph* 2010 UT App 332, ___ P.3d ___. The *Roth* case is not factually comparable to the instant case and thus has little relevance here.¹ However, because Defendant has relied on the *Roth* factors, Plaintiff will address the additional factors that court used in its decision.

Whatever this Court determines the list of factors to be, it does not need to consider all factors, and may even consider other factors. *In re Dierschke*, 975 F.2d 181, 183 (5th Cir. 1992). "Whatever factors are employed, the imperative is that they be regarded simply as a means of identifying circumstances which warrant the finding of 'good cause' to set aside

¹ In the *Roth* case, the defendant hospital filed its answer only twelve days late, due to a clerical error on the part of the hospital's attorney. Further, the answer was filed only three days after the default certificate was entered. Thus, the court determined that the defendant acted expeditiously and that the plaintiff was not prejudiced. *Roth v. Joseph*, 2010 UT App 332, ___ P.3d ___. The facts of the instant case are significantly different, in that the time delay was nine *months* and the error was completely within the control of the Defendant.

a default.” *Id.* at 184. Further, if the court finds that the Defendant’s willful conduct resulted in the entry of default, the court may refuse to set aside the default *on that basis alone* and without considering any other factors. *Id.* (emphasis added). Consequently, if this Court determines that Defendant’s pattern of inaction that led to the certificate of default was entirely within Defendant’s control, the Court need not consider any further factors.

B. The default judgment should not be set aside, because of Defendant’s culpable conduct.

The first factor courts have considered is whether Defendant’s conduct is willful, which courts have also discussed as “culpable conduct”. *Meadows v Dominican Republic*, 817 F.2d 517 (9th Cir. 1987) ; *United States v Timbers Preserve, Routt County, Colo.*, 999 F.2d 452 (10th Cir. 1993). “A defendant’s conduct is culpable if he has received actual or constructive notice of the filing of the action and failed to answer”. *Meadows* at 521.

In the case at bar, Defendant received actual notice of the complaint, as its manager was served at its *new* business location in Ogden, Utah. However, Defendant failed to respond and thus the default certificate was entered. Defendant alleges that its failure to respond was due to the mistake or inadvertence of one of its employees, during the time it was moving business locations.

However, no dispute exists as to whether the Defendant was actually served with the complaint. Defendant does not allege that its failure to answer was due to circumstances beyond its control, such as a natural disaster or act of God. The only excuse it has proffered is that it failed to manage its paperwork and employees, circumstances that are completely

within Defendant's control. Defendant's failure to respond to the complaint, after being properly served, can only be construed as culpable conduct.

C. Defendant has not met its burden of showing that it has a meritorious defense.

The second factor to be discussed is whether the Defendant has a meritorious defense. Under Utah law, the Court does not even need to consider this factor, because excusable neglect does not exist. *Miller v. Brocksmith*, 825 P.2d 690, 694 (Utah App. 1992); *State v. Musselman*, 667 P.2d 1053, 1056 (Utah 1983). The *Miller* court held that since it "found no excusable neglect, it is not necessary to determine whether [the moving party] had a meritorious defense". 825 P.2d at 694. "Accordingly, since the trial court properly ruled that there had been no excusable neglect, it clearly did not abuse its discretion in denying [the] motion to set aside the default". *Id.* In the instant case, the trial court determined that excusable neglect did not exist; therefore, under *Miller*, the trial court did not abuse its discretion and its decision should be upheld.

However, even if this Court chooses to consider whether Defendant has a meritorious defense, the Defendant has not met its burden. Defendant alleges thirty defenses in its Answer, and alleges in its brief that these are meritorious defenses. Admittedly, the burden to show a meritorious defense is not a substantial burden.

Though not substantial, a party must at least "plausibly suggest the existence of facts which, if proven at trial, would constitute a cognizable defense". *Coon v. Grenier*, 867 F.2d 73, 77 (1st Cir. 1989). However, the Defendant has not proven any facts or circumstances

that would support its defenses. These are simply blanket defenses that it has asserted, then asks this Court to consider them meritorious. “[A] conclusory allegation of a defense, unsupported by facts underlying that defense, will not sustain the burden of the defaulting party.” *Gomes v. Williams*, 420 F.2d 1364, 1366 (10th Cir. 1970). Defendant has not proven that its defenses are meritorious, and therefore cannot justify a reversal of the trial court’s decision.

Likewise, Defendant incorrectly represents that Plaintiff’s own expert, David Pierce, has expressed no opinions that would support Plaintiff’s allegations that the trailer was improperly manufactured or designed. Defendant fails to understand that Mr. Pierce stated in his report that the trailer was not designed for use by the general public and that no warning signs were posted on the trailer to advise the unsuspecting public of its dangers. (R. 179-180).

Further, Defendant uses an emergency room report to allege that Plaintiff’s representation of how she was injured are not supported by said report. Again, Defendant fails to understand what a report states. The emergency report states that Plaintiff presented herself because of headaches, *confusion*, and neck pain. (Mckay-Dee Hosp. Ctr., Emergency Dep’t Report, April 2, 2007, attached as Ex. 10 to Pet. for Interlocutory Appeal, emphasis added.) This record correlates with Petitioner’s own medical expert, Dennis Wyman, M.D., who diagnosed Plaintiff with post concussive syndrome, including short-term memory loss, concentration problems, tinnitus, and poor judgment. (R. 158-163). These reports are

completely consistent with the type of injury Plaintiff has suffered from the accident in question. Therefore, Defendant's representation of the above reports have not supported its argument that it has alleged meritorious defenses.

D. Defendant did not act expeditiously in this case, but waited nine months to correct its error and consequently, the default should not be set aside.

The third factor, as discussed in *Roth v. Joseph*, is whether the Defendant acted expeditiously in correcting its error. 2010 UT App 332, ___ P.3d ___. It is impossible to believe that Defendant acted expeditiously in this case, given that it filed its motion *nine months* after the complaint was served upon it, and *six months* after the default certificate entered.

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